
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
Monday, May 23, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
40 East Center Avenue 

Village Hall Board Room 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MAY 9, 2016 VILLAGE BOARD MEETING  

 
4. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen (15) minutes during this item for those 
individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board of Trustees on any matter not listed 
on the agenda.  Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a 
maximum of five (5) minutes. 
 

5. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees will entertain requests from anyone present on the order of 
business to be conducted during the Village Board Meeting. 
 

6. VILLAGE FINANCE REPORT 
 

a) Warrant Report for May 16-31, 2016  
 

7. VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

a) 2016 Lake Bluff Farmers’ Market Report 
 
8. VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
9. VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT  
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 
10. ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 

Please note all correspondence was delivered to the Village Board of Trustees in the Informational Reports 
on May 6 and 13, 2016. 

 
11. A RESOLUTION APPOINTING JEFF HANSEN AS THE VILLAGE’S ALTERNATE DIRECTOR TO 

THE SOLID WASTE AGENCY OF LAKE COUNTY (SWALCO) 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 



Board of Trustees Regular Meeting – May 23, 2016 
 

Page 2 

 
12. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST FOR 930 NORTH SHORE DRIVE 

 
13. SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 4 OF TITLE V OF THE LAKE 

BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING EMERGENCY TELEPHONE SYSTEM (9-1-1) 
 

14. A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT WITH BS&A SOFTWARE 
OF BATH, MICHIGAN FOR THE PROCUREMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF AN ENTERPRISE 
RESOURCE PLANNING SYSTEM AND APPROVING THE WAIVER OF COMPETITIVE BIDS 
 

15. A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT AND 
WAIVER OF COMPETITIVE BIDS TO COMPLETE THE EMERGENCY REPAIR OF MOFFETT 
ROAD 
 

16. A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT AND WAIVER OF 
COMPETITIVE BIDS TO COMPLETE THE PRODUCTION OF NEW VILLAGE GATEWAY AND 
FACILITY SIGNAGE 

 
17. TRUSTEE’S REPORT 

 
18. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
19. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MAY 9, 2016 EXECUTIVE SESSION MEETING 

 
20. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

R. Drew Irvin 
Village Administrator 

 
The Village of Lake Bluff is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting 
and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding accessibility of the 
meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact R. Drew Irvin, Village Administrator, at 234-0774 or TDD number 234-2153 promptly to allow the Village of Lake 
Bluff to make reasonable accommodations. 



  
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 9, 2016 
                                                                                                     

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
Village President O’Hara called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Lake Bluff Village Hall Board 
Room, and Village Clerk Aaron Towle called the roll.  
 
The following were present: 
 
Village President:  Kathleen O’Hara 
 
Trustees:   Barbara Ankenman 

Steve Christensen 
Mark Dewart 
Eric Grenier  

     William Meyer 
 
Absent:   John Josephitis, Village Trustee 
 
Also Present:   Aaron Towle, Village Clerk 

Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
    Peter Friedman, Village Attorney 
    Susan Griffin, Finance Director     
    Michael Croak, Building Codes Supervisor 
    Jeff Hansen, Village Engineer 
    David Belmonte, Police Chief 
    Jake Terlap, Public Works Superintendent 

Brandon Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator (A to VA)  
  

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
President O’Hara led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES 
 
Trustee Ankenman moved to approve the April 25, 2016 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Minutes as 
presented.  Trustee Grenier seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

4. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

President O’Hara stated the Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen minutes for those 
individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board on any matter not listed on the 
agenda.  Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a 
maximum of five (5) minutes. 
 
There were no requests to address the Board. 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting May 9, 2016 

2 
 

 
5. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 

 
At the request of those present, Trustee Christensen moved to take Consent Agenda Items #10, #11 and 
#12 and then return to the regular order of the meeting.  Trustee Dewart seconded the motion.  The motion 
passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

6. ITEMS #10, #11 AND #12 – CONSENT AGENDA 
 
President O’Hara introduced the following Consent Agenda items for consideration:   
 

10. Correspondence Delivered in the April 22 and 29, 2016 Informational Reports;  
11. Second Reading of an Ordinance Amending the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations Concerning 

Residential Pool Houses; and 
12. Second Reading of an Ordinance Granting a Special Use Permit for the Property Located at 611 

Lansdowne Lane to Permit the Operation of a Residential Pool House that has Heat, Light, and 
Bathing and Shower Facilities. 

 
Trustee Christensen moved to approve the Consent Agenda.  Trustee Dewart seconded the motion.  The 
motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Grenier and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Josephitis 
 

7. ITEM #6A – WARRANT REPORT FOR APRIL 15-30, 2016 AND MAY 1-15, 2016 AND APRIL 
2016 PAYROLL EXPENDITURES 
 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of 
$293,334.65 for April 15-30, 2016 and May 1-15, 2016. 
 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payroll in the amount of $256,619.23 for 
April 2016. 
 
As such, the total expenditures for this period is in the amount of $549,953.88 
 
As there were no comments from the Board, Trustee Dewart moved to approve the Warrant Report.   
Trustee Grenier seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Meyer and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Josephitis 
 

8. ITEM #6B – APRIL 2016 FINANCE REPORT 
 
At President O’Hara’s request, Finance Director Susan Griffin provided a brief summary of the April 2016 
Finance Report highlighting major revenue sources and expenditures for the period:   

 
 Sales tax revenue for May 2015-January 2016 is $2.138 million which is $240,000 or 13% greater 

and home rule sales tax of $598,000 is $169,000 or 39% greater than the same period in 2014-15;  



Board Trustees Regular Meeting May 9, 2016 

3 
 

 
 Income tax revenue of $610,000 for FY2016 is 9% greater than the same period in FY2015; 
 Building permit revenue is $477,000 and is $23,000 less than the revised revenue projection of 

$500,000; 
 Capital project expenditures exceed the same period in the prior fiscal year by $542,000; and 
 Water billed consumption is down 2.9 million gallons, but because of the increase in the rate, the 

water sales revenue increased $5,000.  
 

Finance Director Griffin stated Staff continues to closely monitor the actions in Springfield and assess the 
implications to the Village of potential changes in State-shared revenue allocations, property tax limitation 
changes, or pension reform law. 
 
Trustee Dewart moved to accept the Finance Report. Trustee Grenier seconded the motion.  The motion 
passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

9. ITEM # 7 – VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT  
 
Village Administrator Drew Irvin had no report.  
 

10. ITEM #8 – VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
Village Attorney Peter Friedman had no report. 
 

11. ITEM #9A – VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT CONCERNING AN APPOINTMENT TO 
THE JOINT PLAN COMMISSION AND ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
President O’Hara reported the Village President is required by the municipal code to appoint members to 
the Village’s various advisory Boards and Commissions, subject to the consent of the Board of Trustees.  
Village resident David Burns is recommended for appointment to the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning 
Board of Appeals for a term expiring April 30, 2019. 
       
Trustee Meyer moved to approve the recommended appointment. Trustee Grenier seconded the motion. 
The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Dewart, Grenier, Meyer, Ankenman and Christensen 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Josephitis 
 
At the request of President O’Hara, Village Administrator Irvin provided an update on the Automated 
External Defibrillator (AED) devices recently installed throughout Village facilities noting that Staff and 
the Metra train station attendant have received training on the devices. 
 

12. ITEM #13 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO THE VILLAGE 
ADMINISTRATOR’S EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 
President O’Hara reported on January 1, 2008 Village Administrator Irvin commenced his employment 
with the Village. In accordance with Section 4 of the Employment Agreement by and between the Village 
of Lake Bluff and Village Administrator Irvin, the President and Board of Trustees have conducted a 
performance review and determined that it is in the best interest of the Village to adjust Mr. Irvin’s 
compensation to be consistent with the Village’s Official Pay Plan and to recognize his organizational  



Board Trustees Regular Meeting May 9, 2016 

4 
 

 
contributions during the past performance review period.  Specifically, the Village Administrator’s annual 
base salary will be set at $196,650 effective May 1, 2016.  She further reported this is the fifth amendment 
to the Village Administrator’s Employment Agreement since 2008.  Pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/7.3(b), the 
Village Administrator’s total compensation package has been posted on the Village website for more than 
6 days.  
 
Village Administrator Irvin stated there was a typo in the draft resolution and noted the effective date 
should be May 1, 2016. 
 
As there were no comments from the Board, Trustee Ankenman moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Meyer seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Grenier, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Josephitis 
 

13. ITEM #14 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO THE CHIEF OF 
POLICE’S EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 
President O’Hara reported after serving in progressively more responsible positions with the Village since 
1989 (most recently as Deputy Chief of Police), on March 1, 2014 David Belmonte became the Village’s 
9th Chief of Police since 1895.  In accordance with Section 7 of the employment Agreement by and 
between the Village of Lake Bluff and Police Chief Belmonte, the Village Administrator has conducted a 
performance review and determined that it is in the best interests of the Village to adjust Chief Belmonte’s 
compensation to be consistent with the Village’s Official Pay Plan and to recognize his organizational 
contributions during the past performance review period.   Specifically, the Chief of Police’s annual base 
salary will be set at $134,335 effective May 1, 2016.  This is the second amendment to the Chief of Police’s 
Employment Agreement.   
 
As there were no comments from the Board, Trustee Christensen moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Dewart seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart and Grenier 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Josephitis 
 

14. ITEM #15 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO THE DEPUTY CHIEF OF 
POLICE’S EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 
President O’Hara reported since his appointment Deputy Chief of Police Mike Hosking has proven 
himself as an essential asset to the Village’s police management team.  As envisioned, he has provided 
strong administrative support and professional development to our Sergeants, Investigator and Officers.    
In accordance with Section 7A of the Employment Agreement by and between the Village of Lake Bluff 
and Deputy Chief of Police Hosking, Police Chief Belmonte has conducted a performance review and 
determined that it is in the best interests of the Village to adjust Deputy Chief Hosking’s compensation to 
be consistent with the Village’s Official Pay Plan and to recognize his significant organizational 
contributions during the past performance review period.   Specifically, the Deputy Chief of Police’s  
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting May 9, 2016 

5 
 

 
annual base salary will be set at $112,183 effective May 1, 2016.  This is the second amendment to the 
Deputy Chief of Police’s Employment Agreement.   
 
As there were no comments from the Board, Trustee Dewart moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Meyer 
seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart and Grenier  
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Josephitis 
 

15. ITEM #16 – A RESOLUTION ADOPTING A REVISED EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK FOR THE 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 
President O’Hara reported annually the Village’s labor legal counsel conducts a review of the Village’s 
Employee Handbook (Handbook) to ensure the Handbook includes and reflects recent changes in law and 
best management procedures that may be enacted by the Federal and/or State governments or 
recommended by Village Staff, respectively.  The noteworthy changes to the Handbook include the 
following: 
 

 Section 3.7 “Disclosing of Interest in Legislation”:  inclusion of indirect interests and requiring 
disclosure before participating in discussion before the Board of Trustees; 

 Section 4.2 “EEO”:  inclusion of pregnancy or pregnancy related medical conditions and sexual 
preference as covered employees and applicants;  

 Section 14.1 “Drug/Alcohol Free Workplace – Purpose”:  notice to the employee that the policy 
will be construed in accordance with the Illinois “Compassionate Use of Medical Cannabis Pilot 
Program Act”; 

 Addition of Section 18.11 “Workplace Violence Policy”; and 
 Addition of Section 18.12 “Smoking Ban”. 

 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Grenier moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Christensen seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Grenier and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Josephitis 
 

16. ITEM #17 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 
AGREEMENT WITH GEWALT HAMILTON ASSOCIATES, INC (East – West Transmission 
Main Replacement Project) 
 
President O’Hara reported the Village’s existing water distribution system includes an 8” water main that 
travels east through an easement on the Mariani Landscaping property, under the Skokie River, and 
through the Skokie Preserve.  It connects with the rest of the Village’s system at the intersection of West 
Sheridan Place and Maclaren Lane.  She further reported this section of water main is a critical piece of 
the Village’s water distribution system and has had multiple breaks in recent years. The Village requested 
a proposal from Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc. to design and assist the Village with the bidding and 
permitting of a project to replace the existing section of water main.  Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc.  
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting May 9, 2016 

6 
 

 
has exhibited specific expertise in the design of water distribution systems and has successfully done 
projects for the Village in the past.   
 
President O’Hara reported the proposal from Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc. is for time and expense 
not to exceed $38,410.  The project is in the current capital improvements plan and is included in the 
current budget. It is recommended that the board approve the proposal from Gewalt Hamilton Associates, 
Inc. for $38,410.   
 
In response to a question from Trustee Christensen, Village Engineer Jeff Hansen stated the total cost for 
engineering services is about 10% of the project. 
 
As there were no further questions from the Board, Trustee Dewart moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Ankenman seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Meyer and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Josephitis 
 

17. ITEM #18 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A 
CONTRACT AND WAIVER OF COMPETITIVE BIDS TO COMPLETE THE PRODUCTION 
AND INSTALLATION OF NEW VILLAGE GATEWAY AND FACILITY SIGNAGE 
 
Village Engineer Hansen provided an update on the Village Gateway Signage Project noting after several 
unsuccessful attempts to competitively bid the production and installation of the signs, Staff was unable 
to identify a preferred contractor to produce the signs.  A discussion concerning production and installation 
of the signs followed. 
 

18. ITEM #19 – A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT WITH THE VILLAGE OF GRAYSLAKE, THE 
CITY OF HIGHLAND PARK, THE CITY OF HIGHWOOD, THE VILLAGE OF LAKE 
BLUFF, THE CITY OF LAKE FOREST, THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, AND THE 
VILLAGE OF NILES TO FORM A JOINT EMERGENCY TELEPHONE SYSTEM BOARD 
 
President O’Hara reported in September 2014 the Village became a customer of a new joint public safety 
dispatch center operated by the Village of Glenview at the Highland Park Police Facility which now serves 
as the Village’s Public Safety Answering Point (PSAP) for all 9-1-1 phone calls.  As you will recall, Lake 
Bluff (along with Highland Park, Highwood, and Lake Forest; also known as the north group) chose to 
outsource public safety dispatch to the Village of Glenview to improve services and reduce both 
operational and capital expenses.  She further reported on June 29, 2015 the State of Illinois passed Public 
Act 99-0006 instituting changes to the collection and distribution of 9-1-1 surcharge revenues and 
requiring the consolidation of 9-1-1 centers and Emergency Telephone System Boards (ETSBs); 
specifically, this legislation: 
 

 Required that any 9-1-1 centers serving less than a population of 25,000 consolidate by July 1, 
2017 (complete); 

 Created a uniform statewide surcharge and centralized collection and distribution of 9-1-1 
surcharge revenues under the Illinois State Police (ISP), and provided that ISP would distribute 
surcharge revenues to ETSBs; and 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting May 9, 2016 

7 
 

 
 

 Required that any ETSB without a PSAP in its jurisdiction be consolidated through an 
Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with an existing ETSB that has a PSAP to create a joint ETSB 
(executed IGAs and ordinances must be submitted to the State by July 1, 2016). 
 

In addition, President O’Hara reported at this time, all of the Glenview joint dispatch center customers are 
(i) consolidating their ETSBs to collect and receive its 9-1-1 surcharge revenues pursuant to Public Act 
99-0006 and (ii) formally dissolving their respective ETSBs.  Staff recommends approval of both the 
Resolution and IGA to form a JETSB, and approval of the ordinance to dissolve the Village’s individual 
ETSB.  Other than the possible delay of collection and disbursement by the ISP, Staff does not expect any 
budgetary impacts from this action.  
 
Village Administrator Irvin stated State Law requires local governments to have an ETSB and in the past 
the Village Board served as that body pursuant to local ordinance.  The ETSB consolidation is the final 
step to complete the Glenview joint dispatch consolidation. Also, the consolidation will simplify 
administrative procedures by allowing the State to distribute 9-1-1 surcharge revenues directly to the 
Village of Glenview.  Village Administrator Irvin stated the plan is for the ETSB to meet periodically to 
approve State disbursements and ensure statutory requirements are followed.  
 
In response to a question from Trustee Ankenman, Village Administrator Irvin stated a representative 
from each respective community will serve on the joint ETSB. 
 
Police Chief David Belmonte stated the Village Board approved the initial emergency 9-1-1 system and 
should the request get approved future upgrades will be considered by the Village of Glenview with 
approval of the joint ETSB.  
 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Christensen moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Grenier seconded the motion. The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

19. ITEM #20 – AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 4 OF TITLE V OF THE LAKE BLUFF 
MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING EMERGENCY TELEPHONE SYSTEM (9-1-1-) 
 
President O’Hara stated this agenda item is associated with the item previously discussed and Staff 
recommends approval of both agenda items.  
 
As there were no further comments from the Board, Trustee Dewart moved to approve first reading of the 
ordinance.  Trustee Grenier seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

20. ITEM #21 – TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
  
There was no Trustee’s report. 
 

21. ITEM #22 – EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
At 7:46 p.m. Trustee Ankenman moved to enter into Executive Session for the purpose of discussing Land 
Acquisition (5 ILCS 120/2(c)(5)), Actual Litigation (5 ILCS 120/2(c)(11)) and Executive Session Minutes 
(5 ILCS 120/2(c)(21)).  Trustee Meyer seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call 
vote: 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting May 9, 2016 

8 
 

 
 
 
Ayes:  (5) Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Meyer and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Josephitis 
 
There being no further business to discuss, Trustee Grenier moved to adjourn out of executive session.  
Trustee Meyer seconded the motion and the motion passed on a unanimous voice vote at 8:05 p.m. 
 

22. ITEM #23 – CONSIDERATION OF THE APRIL 25, 2016 EXECUTIVE SESSION MEETING 
MINUTES 
 
Trustee Christensen moved to approve the April 25, 2016 Executive Session Meeting Minutes as 
presented.  Trustee Ankenman seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

23. ITEM #24 – ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Grenier moved to adjourn the regular meeting.  Trustee Christensen seconded the motion and the 
motion passed on a unanimous voice vote.  The meeting adjourned at  8:06 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 
R. Drew Irvin      Aaron Towle 
Village Administrator     Village Clerk 
 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
            Agenda Item:  6a 
  
 
Subject: 

 
WARRANT REPORT FOR MAY 16-31, 2016  

 
Action Requested: 

 
APPROVAL OF DISBURSEMENTS (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

  
Referred To: 

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of $310,216.47 for 
May 16-31, 2016. 
 
Total Expenditures of $310,216.47 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 
1. Warrant Report for May 16-31, 2016    $310,216.47  (dated 5/23/16) 
 

Note that the warrant report designates those checks issued prior to the Board’s 
formal approval as manual checks “M” on the Warrant Report.  These are checks that 
are prepared in advance of the warrant due to contractual or governmental/payroll tax 
obligations; to obtain a discount; or for extenuating circumstances that may arise.  
 

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   
 
Approval of Warrant and Payroll in the total amount of $310,216.47 
 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 5/23/2016 
 





















































 
 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

             
                               Agenda Item: 7a 

 
Subject: 

 
2016 LAKE BLUFF FARMERS’ MARKET REPORT 

 
Action Requested: 

 
ACCEPTANCE OF THE REPORT 

 
Originated By: 

 
FARMERS’ MARKET COMMITTEE 

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
 
The Farmers’ Market Committee has met to review last year’s Farmers’ Market activities and plan for the 
2016 season.  It was the consensus of the Committee to recommend the 23rd annual Lake Bluff Farmers’ 
Market be conducted on Fridays, from 7:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m., from June 10th through October 14th 
(Farmers’ Market Period). 
 
According to attached Resolution #2008-33, a resolution granting approval to operate and conduct a 
farmers’ market on Village property, the Village Administrator may renew the Farmers’ Market Period on 
an annual basis.  In the event that the Farmers’ Market Period is changed from a weekly basis or extended 
beyond the period of June through October, the event must be authorized by the Village Board.  The 
recommended Farmers’ Market Period is in compliance with Resolution #2008-33 and has been 
authorized by Village Administrator Irvin.  
 
Village Staff will be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached:  
    
1. Resolution #2008-33 granting approval to operate and conduct a Farmer’s Market on Village 

property; and 
2.  Memorandum (with attachments) dated May 20, 2016 concerning the 2015-2016 Farmers’ Market 

Report. 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:    Acceptance of the Report. 
 

 Date Referred to Village Board: 5/23/2016 







 

 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 
Memorandum 
 
TO:  Village President and the Village Board of Trustees  
 
FROM: Brandon J. Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator 
 
DATE: May 20, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: 2015-2016 Farmers’ Market Report  
 
In preparation for the 2016 Farmers’ Market season, the Farmers’ Market Committee 
(“Committee”) has met to review 2015 Market operations and to select vendors for the 2016 
term.  The purpose of this memorandum is to provide a summary of the Committee’s review and 
recommendation to conduct the 23rd annual Lake Bluff Farmers’ Market (“Market”). 
 
Time Period 
The Committee recommends the Market take place every Friday from June 10th through October 
14th (7:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.) on the Village Green. This proposed time period is consistent with 
Resolution #2008-33, a resolution granting approval to operate and conduct a farmers’ market on 
Village property, which authorizes the Village Administrator to renew the farmers’ market 
period on an annual basis if the time period does not change.  The purpose of maintaining the 19 
week schedule is to accommodate vendors that are still able to provide fresh products into the 
fall season, as well as visitors that continue to shop at the Market during this time. 
 
Market Mix 
Last year’s additions of Bonique Corp. (fresh served waffles), Cashmore Produce (hydroponic 
produce grower), Elsie Mae’s Canning & Pies, Lester Bison Farm and Grow Well Farms (micro-
greens) worked favorably to fill a niche demand and all are expected to return this year.  From 
time to time the Committee will invite vendors to participate on a trial basis to evaluate the 
product and overall operations.   
 
The Committee elected to invite most 2015 vendors to return for this coming year and is pleased 
to report all approved vendors will be returning with the exception of Red Barn Farm Market, 
Katic Breads, Door County Whitefish, The Olive Tap (olive oil) and Wildflour Bakery (all due 
to operational challenges).  Some of the most popular and longtime vendors returning include: 
Twin Garden Farms, the Cheese People, Pleasant Prairie Farm, K&K Farms and Leider 
Greenhouses.  A complete list of vendors is provided as Attachment A. 
 
Last year was the first year the Market operated without Didier Farms, and prior to the end of the 
2015 season, Red Barn Farm Market advised it would not return for 2016 due to its focus on 
growing wheat and selling a large piece of its farmland. This was a challenge met head-on by the 
Committee as recruitment efforts were increased in an attempt to maintain the availability of 
several large farmers at the Market.  The Committee was extremely successful in attracting 
alternate farmers, such as: Krazy Fox Farms, Oak Circle Farm and Six Generations Farmin’ 
Local, Inc.  Other vendors new to the Market include Deeter Cookies, LLC (x-large specialty 
cookies) and The Giveback Kitchen (gourmet chocolate sauces). The Committee invited The 
Giveback Kitchen (gourmet chocolate sauces) to participate on a trial basis on June 10th and 24th.  

bstanick
Typewritten Text



 

 

The Committee is also pleased to announce that Urban Kettle will return for a second full year in 
an effort to increase the availability of ready-made food at the Market, as well as enhance the 
Market experience with a specialty vendor. 
 
Overall, the 2016 vendor mix continues to represent a wide variety of produce, baked goods, 
flowers and a number of specialty products and services (olive oil, cheeses, honey, knife 
sharpening, etc.) to accommodate the selective North Shore customer. 
 
Parking and Traffic Flow 
Parking is accommodated by the spaces in the Central Business District along E. Scranton, E. 
Center and Oak Avenues, and the parking lots located at Walnut Avenue, the Train Station and 
Artesian Park.  In 2013 the Village engaged Rich and Associates (“Consultant”) to perform a 
Central Business District parking study to: (i) maximize the effectiveness and efficiencies of 
existing parking; and (ii) identify trends that may require additional resources or improvements. 
As part of this study the Village’s Consultant evaluated the occupancy levels of public on-street 
and public off-street spaces in the study area (downtown and surrounding streets, Train Station 
lot and Artesian Park lot) during the September 27, 2013 Market. The Consultant reported the 
occupancy rate between the hours of 10:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m. and 11:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. 
reached approximately 68.50% which represented a notable increase in occupied spaces 
(although not a peak Market day) over a typical day, but a minimal impact to the residential on-
street parking areas.    
 
Market patrons will continue to be encouraged to park at the Train Station lot to minimize traffic 
congestion in the downtown. Additionally, the westbound lane of E. Scranton Avenue will 
remain open to through traffic and the eastbound lane will be closed. This configuration allows 
access to the parking spaces along the north side of E. Scranton Avenue, the Lake Forest Bank 
and Trust drive-through facility and Sheridan Road. The configuration also accommodates event 
operations by providing limited parking for vendors along the north side of the Village Green 
and a loading zone allowing shoppers a space to park and load their items. 
 
Marketing 
For the upcoming season the Committee is not only targeting customers in the 60044 and 60045 
zip codes, but also the greater North Shore and immediate surrounding areas with advertisement 
in the seasonal Ravinia Family-Fun Guide. As marketing continues to be a critical aspect of the 
Market’s success, the Committee and Staff work together to utilize: press releases to local 
newspapers and hyper-local news outlets (Daily North Shore), the Village sign boards, hard copy 
newsletter and e-news blasts (Lake Bluff Letter), as well as the Village’s website and other third 
party internet sites. The Committee continues to maintain a website 
(lakeblufffarmersmarket.com/), as well as use social media, such as Facebook 
(facebook.com/LakeBluffMarket), Twitter (twitter.com/lakebluffmarket) and Instagram 
(lakebluffmarket) to keep Market shoppers and the overall community well informed about 
Market vendors, music performances, the corn roast and other special events the Committee is 
planning for the upcoming season. There are currently 747 “likes” on Facebook (up over 100% 
since last year), 584 “followers” on Twitter (29% increase from last year) and 129 “followers” 
on Instagram (previous data not available). 
 
The poster (Attachment B) this year is being designed by Kristin Ashley, a local professional 
graphic artist; a copy of which is attached. Generally, the Committee and Market Manager will 
ask permission from various businesses to display posters throughout the target market area. 



 

 

Also, posters are made available by the Market Manager for shoppers to purchase ($10.00) 
throughout the season. 
 
Over the course of the last several seasons the Committee has partnered with MC Squared 
(former electricity supplier), Lake Forest Bank and Trust, Northern Trust Bank and Northwestern 
Lake Forest Hospital to enhance the Market with such things as the corn roast and “green” 
produce bags for shoppers. The Committee was successful this year in securing Knauz 
Automotive Group as the 2016 season sponsor.  Additionally, the Committee was extremely 
grateful for the sponsorship of the 2015 corn roast by the Volunteer Fire Department and looks 
forward to working with the Fire Department this year as well.  The corn roast is tentatively 
scheduled for August 5th. Although there are no cooking demonstrations scheduled to date the 
Committee remains open to this opportunity from local area chefs, vendors or other businesses.  
The 2016 season will continue with weekly musical performances by local talent from 
community youth, Ken Hall Music and Terry Moran. 
 
Financial Summary 
The application fee for full-time vendors for the 2016 Market remains unchanged at $275.00. 
This amount is comparable with fees charged by other suburban Chicago farmers’ markets. The 
vendor fee raises money to compensate the part-time Market Manager position ($180.00 per 
market). As of May 20, 2016 the Village has collected fees in the amount of $4,975.00.  It is 
anticipated the total fees collected will amount to $7,200 based on the participation of 27 full-
time and part-time vendors. 
 
Miscellaneous Items 
At times other governmental agencies and non-profit organizations will visit the Market to 
interview vendors to learn about the various products being sold and farming practices, as well as 
the Market’s very own apiarist (Leider Honey).  Also, since 2012 the Committee has honored the 
Lake Bluff Public Library’s request to hold “Story Time on the Village Green” during the 
Market. This is a Library program for the benefit of elementary and preschool aged children. 
 
This year the Committee has again partnered with Master Gardeners as part of the University of 
Illinois Extension Office to educate customers (twice per month) on different plant species and 
overall general gardening practices.  The Lake Bluff Garden Club will also have a table and tent 
available once per month to serve as a resource to visitors.  
 
Conclusion 
The goals of the Market have and will continue to strive to: 
 

 Provide an appropriate “mix” of vendors to increase interest in the event; 
 Minimize costs associated with the Market by pursuing sponsorship opportunities and 

evaluating vendor fees; 
 Strengthen Lake Bluff’s Central Business District (2016 Strategic Plan goal); and 
 Promote Lake Bluff’s sense of community to attract residents and businesses to the 

Village (2016 Strategic Plan goal). 
 
Most notably, the Committee acknowledges the contributions made by the Village Board, the 
Farmers’ Market Manager, the Public Works Department, Police Department, and 
Administrative Staff. Comments from Market patrons and fellow vendors continue to be 



 

 

favorable making the Lake Bluff Farmers’ Market one of the premier markets in the area. The 
Committee looks forward to another successful year. 
 
 
Attachments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
Farmer/Vendor     Product      
 
 
All About Appetizers     Gourmet vegetable & fruit spreads 
Grayslake, IL 60030      
 
Bonique Corporation     Waffle pastries 
Mundelein, IL 60060  
 
Cashmore Produce     Varieties of produce (hydroponic grower) 
Harvard, IL 60033 
 
The Cheese People     Varieties of cheeses  
Quincy, IL 62301        
 
Dave’s Coffee Cakes     Coffee Cakes 
Sterling, IL 61081 
 
Elsie Mae’s Canning & Pies    Fruit, custard & savory pies and jams 
Kenosha, WI 53144 
 
The Flower Garden     Gladiolus & other fresh cut flowers 
St. Anne, IL 60964 
 
The Giveback Kitchen    Gourmet chocolate sauces 
Hoffman Estates, IL 60010 
 
Hand Crafted Crepes      Crepes made to order 
Libertyville, IL 60048       
 
Holcomb Hollow     Jams and gluten free breads 
Mundelein, IL 60060 
 
K & K Farms      Berries, fruits &jJams 
Coloma, MI 49038         
 
Krazy Fox Farms     Vegetables and plants 
St. Anne, IL 60964 
        
Leider Greenhouses     Potted plants & annuals 
Buffalo Grove, IL 60089      
 
Leider’s Local Honey     Honey and honey comb 
Libertyville, IL 60048   
 
Lester’s Bison Farm     Meat, eggs and butter 
Salem, WI 53168 

ATTACHMENT A 



 

 

Farmer/Vendor     Product 
 
Lou’s Ol’ Fashioned     Pickled products 
Des Plaines, IL 60016  
           
Maggie’s Munchies     Dog treats 
Park Ridge, IL 60068 
 
Oak Circle Farm     Vegetables, potted/fresh herbs and plants 
Beach Park, IL 60087      
 
Pleasant Prairie Farm     Variety of cut flowers 
Pleasant Prairie, WI  53158     
 
River Valley Ranch     Mushrooms and sauces 
Burlington, WI 53105    
 
Sharpening by Dave     Knife sharpening service 
Lindenhurst, IL 60046 
 
Six Generations Farmin’ Local, Inc.   Vegetables 
Barrington, IL 60010 
 
Taste of Paris      French pastries 
Mundelein, IL 60060 
 
Three Tarts Bakery     Chocolate tarts & baked goods 
Northfield, IL 60093      
  
Twin Garden Farms     Vegetables and Mirai corn 
Harvard, IL 60033      
 
Urban Kettle      Kettle corn 
Beach Park, IL 60087 



Sponsored by

Lake Bluff
Farmers Market

Fridays 7 am ~ noon  
 June 10 ~ October 14

LB Farmers Market final.indd   1 5/10/16   7:06 PM

bstanick
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT B

bstanick
Typewritten Text



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

  
Agenda Item: 11 

  
 
 
Subject: 

A RESOLUTION APPOINTING JEFF HANSEN AS THE VILLAGE'S 
ALTERNATE DIRECTOR TO THE SOLID WASTE AGENCY OF LAKE 
COUNTY (SWALCO) 

  
Action Requested: ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION (Voice Vote) 
  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason for Request: 
 
Village Administrator Drew Irvin has served as Lake Bluff’s Director to the Solid Waste Agency of 
Lake County (“SWALCO”) Board since 2008.  Former Village Engineer George Russell served as 
Lake Bluff’s Alternate Director since the Village Board appointed him to this position on January 
11, 2011.   With Mr. Russell’s retirement, it is necessary to name an Alternate Director to represent 
the Village.  Village President Kathleen O’Hara recommends the appointment of Village Engineer 
Jeff Hansen as Lake Bluff’s Alternate Director on the SWALCO Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached:  
 
1. A Resolution Appointing Jeff Hansen as the Village’s Alternate Director on the SWALCO 

Board of Directors.  
 
Village President’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation: Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 1/24/2011 



RESOLUTION No.____ 
 

A RESOLUTION APPOINTING JEFF HANSEN AS LAKE BLUFF’S 
ALTERNATE DIRECTOR TO THE  

SOLID WASTE AGENCY OF LAKE COUNTY 
 

 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff has entered into an Agreement  
 
Establishing the Solid Waste Agency of Lake County, Illinois; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 8 of said Agreement requires the Solid Waste Agency of  
 
Lake County, Illinois (SWALCO) to be governed by a Board of Directors; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 8.2 of said Agreement provides that each Member of  
 
SWALCO shall appoint a Director by a vote of the corporate authorities, said Director  
 
being (a) Mayor or President of the Member, (b) Trustee, Councilperson, or Alderman, or  
 
(c) Chief Administrative Officer of the Member; and 
 
 WHEREAS, said Agreement also provides for the appointment of one or more  
 
Alternate Directors.  An Alternate Director shall meet the qualification of office as a 

Director as stated above or a Member may appoint an Alternate Director who is a full 

time employee in an executive level position with the Member.  An executive level 

position is generally intended to mean a person who is a department head or equivalent; 

and 

 WHEREAS, the term of the current appointment of the Alternate, George E.  
 
Russell has ended with his transition from full-time employment with the Village. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the President of Lake Bluff  
 
appoints Jeff Hansen as Lake Bluff’s Alternate Director to SWALCO upon approval of  
 
this Resolution to serve in said capacity until April 30, 2018, or until  such successor is  
 
appointed. 



 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Clerk is ordered to distribute a certified  
 
copy of this Resolution to the appointee(s) and the Secretary of SWALCO, 1311 N. Estes  
 
Street, Gurnee, IL  60031. 
 
PASSED this _____ day of May, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Lake Bluff, as follows: 
 
AYES: (  )  
   
NAYS: (  ) 
 
ABSENT: (  )  
 
APPROVED this ____ day of May, 2016. 
                    
_________________________ 
         Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Village Clerk 
  
 
 
 



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item: 12  

 

Subject: 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST 
FOR 930 NORTH SHORE DRIVE  

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
MARVIN DESIGN GALLERY (Petitioner) 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 

Marvin Design Gallery is proposing to recover the existing awning framework over the front of 
their business at 930 North Shore Drive. 

The sign code requirement for an awning sign in the L-1 is the same as in the CBD, and it reads, 
“the size of letters on an awning sign shall be no less than five inches and no greater than seven 
inches in height and shall be placed on the descending skirt only.” Since there is no “descending 
skirt” on the existing awning, the petitioners are requesting an exemption in order to have the 
lettering on the main portion of the awning.  The proposed lettering ranges in size from 8” for 
the word “Marvin” to 3” for “by Evanston Lumber.” This requires an exemption since some 
letters are larger and some are smaller than the allowable size.  Similar exemptions have been 
granted previously, most recently for Katie Hall Liz Mazur Photography on Center Avenue. 

The Architectural Board of Review (“ABR”) reviewed the proposed signs at its May 3, 2016 
meeting and recommended the Village Board approve an exemption from the Sign Code to allow 
them.  

In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of the request, the neighboring property 
owners have been notified of the meeting date and a resolution has been prepared transmitting 
the ABR’s recommendation.  

The petitioner, as well as Village Staff, will be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions 
from the Board. 

Reports and Documents Attached: 

1. A copy of  a Resolution Approving a Sign Exemption Request for 930 North Shore Drive 
2. Drawings of the Proposed Signs and Building Changes; and 
3. A copy of the May 3, 2016 ABR Staff Report (without Attachments). 
 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 5/23/2016 



1 
 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2016- 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING  
A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST  

FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 930 NORTH SHORE DRIVE 
  (MARVIN DESIGN GALLERY)  

 
WHEREAS, Marvin Design Gallery by Evanston Lumber ("Applicants") are tenants 

in the property owned by  Welbic Iii Lake Bluff 930 LLC ("Owner") and located at 930 North Shore 
Drive, within the Village’s L-1 Zoning District; (“Property”) and, 

 
 WHEREAS, the Applicant desires to construct signs, as depicted in the plans which 

are attached to and incorporated into this Resolution as Exhibit A (“Plans”); and,  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested an exemption from Section 10-10-14(D)1 of 

the signage requirements in the Village's Zoning Regulations to permit an awning sign (“Awning 
Sign”) which is not on the descending skirt of the awning at the Property and which has lettering 
smaller and larger than the 5” minimum and 7” maximum sizes ("Sign Exemption Request"); and,  

 
WHEREAS, the Owner has consented to the Applicant's request for approval of the 

Sign Exemption Request; and, 
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-10-15B of the Municipal Code, the Architectural 
Board of Review considered the Sign Exemption Request at its public meeting on May 3, 2016, on 
which date the Architectural Board of Review recommended that the Village Board approve the 
Sign Exemption Request; and, 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Zoning Regulations, the Village Administrator caused 

written notice to be mailed to the owners of all property contiguous to, or directly across the public 
right-of-way from the Property, which notice informed those owners of the address of the Property 
and the nature of the Sign Exemption Request; and,  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Zoning Regulations, the Village 

President and Board of Trustees have determined that a sign exemption is appropriate because of 
the special unique circumstances presented by the development of the Property, and that granting 
the Sign Exemption Request as recommended by the Architectural Board of Review will not defeat 
the fundamental purposes and intent of Section 10-10-1 of the Municipal Code and will not be 
detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the property in the vicinity of the Property; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees have determined that it is in 

the best interests of the Village to approve the Sign Exemption Request in accordance with, and 
subject to, the provisions of this Resolution. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Recitals. 
 



2 
 

The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein as findings of the President and Board 
of Trustees. 

 
Section 2. Approval of Sign Exemption Request. 
 

 Pursuant to Section 10-10-19 of the Municipal Code of the Village of Lake Bluff, and 
subject to and contingent on satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 3 of this Resolution, 
the Village President and Board of Trustees hereby grant approval of the Sign Exemption Request 
to allow for the erection, installation and maintenance of the Awning Sign as depicted on the Plans.  

 
Section 3. Conditions. 
 

  A. Continued Effect.  All provisions of the Approval Ordinance and the Site Plan, 
as amended that are not expressly amended in this Resolution remain in full force and effect.  
 
  B. Compliance with Plans. Except for minor changes and site work approved by 
the Village Building Commissioner or Village Engineer in accordance with applicable Village 
standards, the Awning Sign must be located, constructed, installed, and maintained in substantial 
compliance with the Plans. 
 
  C. Compliance with Applicable Law. In addition to the other specific 
requirements of this Resolution, the Property and all operations conducted thereon must comply at 
all times with all applicable federal, state, and Village statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, 
codes, and regulations, including building, electrical, and fire prevention codes.  
 
  D. No Construction until Final Approval. Except as otherwise authorized by the 
Village Administrator, no erection, installation or maintenance of the proposed Signs, will be 
permitted unless and until this Resolution becomes effective pursuant to Section 5. 
 
  E. No Approval of Other Signage. The approval in Section 2 of this Resolution is 
limited to the approval of the Sign Exemption Request for the Door Sign as depicted on the Plans, 
pursuant to the conditions stated herein, and does not authorize or approve any exemptions from 
the Zoning Regulations for any other signage for the Property or any modification of the Door Sign 
as depicted on the Plans. 
 
  Section 4. Failure to Comply with Conditions. 
 
  Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant or Owner or any of their officers, employees, 
or agents, to comply with any or all of the conditions, restrictions, or provisions of this Resolution, 
the approval granted in this Resolution shall, at the sole discretion of the President and Board of 
Trustees, by resolution duly adopted, be revoked and become null and void.  
 
  Section 5. Effective Date. 
 

A. This Resolution will be effective only upon the occurrence of the following 
events: 

 
i. passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in the manner 

required by law; and  



3 
 

 
ii. the filing by the Applicant and Owner with the Village Clerk of an 

unconditional agreement and consent to accept and abide by each and all of 
the terms, conditions, and limitations set forth in this Resolution in the form 
attached as Exhibit B and, by this reference, made a part of this Resolution. 
 

B. In the event that the Applicant and Owner do not file with the Village a fully 
executed copy of the unconditional agreement and consent required under Section 5.A.ii within 60 
days after the date of passage of this Resolution, then, at the option of the Village Board of 
Trustees, this Resolution shall be rendered null and void and of no force or effect.  

 
PASSED this ___ day of __________, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 
Bluff, as follows: 
 
AYES:  ( )  
 
NAYS:  ( ) 
 
ABSTAIN: ( ) 
 
ABSENT: ( )  
 
APPROVED this ___ day of __________, 2016. 

 
 
_____________________________ 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________ 
Village Clerk 
 
 



4 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
 PLANS 



5 
 

 EXHIBIT B 
 
 UNCONDITIONAL AGREEMENT AND CONSENT 
 
TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (the "Village"): 
 

WHEREAS, Marvin Design Gallery by Evanston Lumber ("Applicant") are tenants in 
the property owned by  Welbic Iii Lake Bluff 930 LLC ("Owner") and located at 930 North Shore 
Drive, within the Village’s L-1 Zoning District, (“Property”) and, 

 
 WHEREAS, the Applicant desires to construct signs, as depicted in the plans which 

are attached to and incorporated into this Resolution as Exhibit A (“Plans”); and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested an exemption from Section 10-10-14(D)1 

and Section 10-10-14(B)2 of the signage requirements in the Village's Zoning Regulations to permit 
an awning sign (“Awning Sign”) which is not on the descending skirt of the awning at the Property 
and which has lettering smaller and larger than the 5” minimum and 7” maximum sizes ("Sign 
Exemption Request"); and, 
 

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2016-__ , adopted by the President and Board of 
Trustees of the Village on ________ __, 2016, grants approval for the Sign Exemption Request, 
subject to certain conditions; and, 
 

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2016- __ provides that the Resolution will be of no force 
or effect unless and until the Applicant and Owner shall have filed with the Village Clerk, within 60 
days after passage of the Resolution its unconditional agreement and consent to accept and abide 
by each of the terms, conditions, and limitations set forth in the Resolution.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, the Applicant and Owner do hereby agree and covenant as 
follows: 
 

1. Applicant and Owner hereby unconditionally agree to, accept, consent to 
and abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of that 
certain Resolution No. 2016-__, adopted by the Village Board of Trustees on 
______ __, 2016 (the "Resolution"). 

 
2. Applicant and Owner acknowledge and agree that the Village is not and 

shall not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be 
sustained as a result of the Village's issuance of any permits for the use of 
the Property, and that the Village's issuance of any such permits does not, 
and shall not, in any way, be deemed to insure the Applicant or Owner 
against damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 

 
3. Applicant and Owner acknowledge that the public notices and hearings have 

been properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Resolution, 
have considered the possibility of the revocation provided for in the 
Resolution, and agree not to challenge any such revocation on the grounds 
of any procedural infirmity or any denial of any procedural right. 



6 
 

 
4. Applicant and Owner agree to and hereby hold harmless and indemnify the 

Village, the Village's corporate authorities, and all Village elected and 
appointed officials, officers, employees, agents, representatives, and 
attorneys, from and against any and all claims that may, at any time, be 
asserted against any of such parties in connection with the Village's 
adoption of the Resolution.  

 
ATTEST:     Marvin Design Gallery by Evanston Lumber 
 
 
By: _______________________________  
 
Its: _______________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST:     Welbic Iii Lake Bluff 930 LLC 
 
By: _______________________________  
 
Its: _______________________________  
 
SUBSCRIBED and SWORN to 
before me this _______ day of 
___________________, 2016. 
 
 
 
Notary Public 













VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
        Agenda Item: 13 

 
 
Subject: 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 4 OF TITLE V OF THE LAKE BLUFF 
MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING EMERGENCY TELEPHONE SYSTEM (9-1-1) 

  
Action Requested: SECOND READING CONSIDERATION OF THE ORDINANCE (Voice Vote) 
  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason for Request: 
 

In September 2014 the Village became a customer of a new joint public safety dispatch center operated by the 
Village of Glenview at the Highland Park Police Facility which now serves as the Village’s public safety 
answering point (“PSAP”) for all 9-1-1 phone calls.  As you will recall, Lake Bluff (along with Highland Park, 
Highwood, and Lake Forest; also known as the north group) chose to outsource public safety dispatch to the 
Village of Glenview to improve services and reduce both operational and capital expenses.   
 
On June 29, 2015 the State of Illinois passed Public Act 99-0006 instituting changes to the collection and 
distribution of 9-1-1 surcharge revenues and requiring the consolidation of 9-1-1 centers and Emergency 
Telephone System Boards (“ETSBs”); specifically, this legislation: 

 Required that any 9-1-1 centers serving less than a population of 25,000 consolidate by July 1, 2017 
(complete); 

 Created a uniform statewide surcharge and centralized collection and distribution of 9-1-1 surcharge 
revenues under the Illinois State Police (“ISP”), and provided that ISP would distribute surcharge 
revenues to ETSBs; and 

 Required that any ETSB without a Public Safety Answering Point (“PSAP”) in its jurisdiction be 
consolidated through an Intergovernmental Agreement (“IGA”) with an existing ETSB that has a PSAP 
to create a joint ETSB (executed IGAs and ordinances must be submitted to the State by July 1, 2016). 

At this time, all of the Glenview joint dispatch center customers are (i) consolidating their ETSBs to collect and 
receive its 9-1-1 surcharge revenues pursuant to Public Act 99-0006 and (ii) formally dissolving their respective 
ETSBs. To that end, Staff recommends approval of both the Resolution and IGA to form a JETSB, and 
approval of the ordinance to dissolve the Village’s individual ETSB.  Other than the possible delay of collection 
and disbursement by the ISP, Staff does not expect any budgetary impacts from this action. The Village Board 
approved first reading of the ordinance at its meeting on May 9, 2016. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 Ordinance Amending/Repealing the ETSB Provisions of the Lake Bluff Municipal Code. 
  
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:  Consider second reading of the ordinance. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 5/23/ 2016 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-___ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 4 OF TITLE V OF THE 
LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING EMERGENCY TELEPHONE SYSTEM (911) 

 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 4 of Title V of the Village Code establishes an Emergency 

Telephone System Board (“ETSB”) for the Village and authorizes the Village to collect 
surcharges for E911 services; and, 

WHEREAS, on June 29, 2015, the Governor of the State of Illinois signed into law 
Public Act 99-0006 (“Act”), instituting changes to the collection and distribution of 9-1-1 surcharge 
revenues and requiring the consolidation of 9-1-1 centers and ETSBs; and,  

WHEREAS, the Act requires that the Village eliminate its local ETSB and join a 
consolidated ETSB no later than July 1, 2017; and,  

WHEREAS, the Act also revoked the Village’s authority to impose a local 
telecommunications surcharge for E911 funding purposes, and replaced it with a uniform 
statewide surcharge; and,  

WHEREAS, the Village Board desires to repeal provisions Chapter 4 of Title V of 
the Village Code in order to comply with the Act; and, 

WHEREAS, the Village Board has determined that it will serve and be in the best 
interest of the Village and its residents to amend the Village Code pursuant to this Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 Section 1: Recitals.   

 The foregoing recitals are incorporated into, and made a part of, this Ordinance as 
the findings of the Village Board. 

Section 2: Repealer.   

 Chapter 4, titled “Emergency Telephone System (911), of Title V, titled “Police and 
Public Safety,” of the Village Code is hereby repealed in its entirety and reserved for future use. 

Section 3. Effective Date. 
 

This Ordinance shall be effective after following passage by the Board of Trustees 
of the Village of Lake Bluff in the manner required by law and publication in pamphlet form in the 
manner required by law; provided, however, that the effective date will not occur prior to the earlier 
to occur of: (i) January 1, 2017; or (ii) the date on which the State of Illinois issues an order of 
authority approving the consolidation of the Village’s ETSB. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 



 2 

PASSED this __ day of ____ 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff, 
as follows: 
 
AYES:  () 

NAYS: ()   

ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: () 
 
APPROVED this __ day of ____ 2016. 

____________________________ 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Village Clerk 

 
FIRST READING:  May 9, 2016 
 
SECOND READING:   
 
PASSED:    
 
APPROVED:    
 
PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:  
 

#46057228_v1 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 

        Agenda Item: 14  

 

 

Subject: 

A RESOLUTION  AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A 

CONTRACT WITH BS&A SOFTWARE OF BATH, MICHIGAN 

FOR THE PROCUREMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF AN 

ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING SYSTEM AND 

APPROVING THE WAIVER OF COMPETITIVE BIDS 

  

Action Requested: CONSIDERATION OF THE RESOLUTION (Voice Vote) 

  

Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 

  

Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 

 

Summary of Background and Reason for Request: 

The Village uses an enterprise resource planning (ERP) suite of integrated software to manage the data 

necessary for operations which includes financial accounting software, utility billing, and building 

permit tracking software. The current system was implemented in 1999 and is based on an obsolete 

programming language. The system is slow, inflexible and doesn’t support the Village’s operations 

causing delays, loss of productivity and frustration trying to access data.  The Village, along with the 

Villages of Gurnee and Round Lake, issued a joint request for qualifications for ERP systems and 

selected four vendors from the nine responses to provide price quotations to each community. After 

inviting BS&A and Civic Systems to provide a full day demonstration of its software to staff members 

from all departments, the Village staff recommends the purchase of BS&A software at a price of 

$136,890.  It is estimated that there will be another $8,000-$10,000 of hardware and software costs 

incurred for optimal implementation. The total expected cost of $147,000 is within the $150,000 

FY2017 budget.   

 

Reports and Documents Attached: 

 

1. Resolution Authorizing the Execution of a Contract with BS&A Software. 

2. Finance Director Memorandum dated May 18, 2016. 

3. BS&A Proposal dated May 3, 2016. 

  

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:  Approval of the Resolution. 

 

 

Date Referred to Village Board:      5/23/2016 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016- 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT  

WITH BS&A SOFTWARE OF BATH, MICHIGAN FOR 

PROCUREMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF AN  

ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING SYSTEM 

AND APPROVING THE WAIVER OF COMPETITIVE BIDS  

 

  WHEREAS, the Village’s Purchasing Policy and Procedures Manual (“Manual”) requires 
the solicitation of competitive bids for purchases in excess of $20,000; and, 
 

  WHEREAS, the Village has identified the need to replace and enhance the Village’s 

Enterprise Resource Planning System (“ERP”) which consists of integrated business process software 
suites; and,  
 

  WHEREAS, the Fiscal Year 2016-17 Annual Budget allocated $150,000 in funding for 
the purchase of a replacement ERP system; and, 
  

  WHEREAS, the Village Administrator and the Finance Director recommend that the 
Village enter into a contract with BS&A Software of Bath, Michigan, for the procurement, 
implementation and training of an ERP system at a cost not to exceed $136,890; and,  
 

  WHEREAS, the Village Board has determined that authorizing the purchase of the ERP 
System pursuant to this Resolution is in the best interests of the residents of the Village. 
 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 

OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS as follows: 
 

  Section 1. Recitals. 

 
  The foregoing recitals are hereby adopted as the findings of the President and Board of 
Trustees. 

  

Section 2. Waiver of Bid Process. 

 
The advertising and bidding requirements for the Enterprise Resource Planning System 

are hereby waived in accordance with the Purchasing Manual and the Village's home rule powers.  

   

  Section 3.  Authorization and Execution of Agreement.  
 

The Village Administrator is hereby authorized and directed to execute a contract in a 
form acceptable to the Village Attorney with BS&A Software of Bath, Michigan to complete the 
implementation at a cost not to exceed $136,890. 

 

  Section 4. Effective Date 

 
This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage by a vote of 

two-thirds of the Village Board of Trustees and approval in the manner required by law. 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT #1



PASSED this ______ day of May, 2016 by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff as 
follows:  
 

AYES:  ( )    
 

NAYS:  ( ) 

 

ABSENT: ( )    

 
 
APPROVED this ______ day of May, 2016. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Village President 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Village Clerk 
 

 
#30545136_v2 



 

 

   VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Finance Committee Chairman and Members 
Village President and Board of Trustees 
R. Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 

   
FROM:  Susan M. Griffin, Finance Director 
  Marlene Scheibl, Assistant Finance Director 
 
DATE:  May 18, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Enterprise Resource Planning Software Recommendation 
 
Summary 
The Village uses an enterprise resource planning (ERP) suite of integrated software to manage the data 
necessary for operations which includes financial accounting software, utility billing, and building permit 
tracking software.  The current system was implemented in 1999 and is based on an obsolete 
programming language.  After inviting BS&A and Civic Systems to provide a full day demonstration of its 
modules, the Village staff recommends the purchase of BS&A software at a price of $136,890 with total 
annual service fees of $14,710.  It is estimated that there will be another $8,000-$10,000 of hardware 
and software costs incurred for optimal implementation. The total expected cost of $147,000 is within 
the $150,000 FY2017 budget.  Attached as Appendix A is a copy of the proposal dated May 3, 2016. 
 
Current System - MSI 
The Village’s current system was purchased from Municipal Software Inc. (MSI), a Libertyville company 
providing software to Midwest governmental clients and implemented in 1999.  This software was 
programmed in the COBOL language which means it:  (i) lacks the seamless integration of Windows-
based software and requires costly programming charges even for minor changes to reports, (ii) does 
not allow for easy extraction of data from the system (requires a third party software at a separate cost 
for each license), (iii) has had no significant upgrades in several years, and (iv) the quality of the 
customer service has declined since the company was purchased by Harris.  The system is slow, 
inflexible, and doesn’t support the Village’s operations causing delays, loss of productivity, and 
frustration trying to access data.  
 
Process 
In November 2015 the Village issued a joint request for qualifications (RFQ) for financial software 
systems with the Villages of Gurnee and Round Lake.  The goals of this process were to select a vendor 
that could meet the current trends in ERP systems, have a system requiring minimal IT support, have a 
strong presence in Illinois, and have a proven record of delivering quality, timely customer service.  
Trends in ERP systems procurement include:  seamless integration between modules/suites, paperless 
processing and approvals, automated notifications, SQL servers databases and Windows based 
operating software, user-friendly and comprehensive e-business services, integration with records 
management systems (RMS), adequate standard reports and uncomplicated report building capabilities, 
improved system security by user or user groups, and comprehensive audit trails with trigger alerts. 
 
After receiving eight responses to a joint request for qualifications, four companies were invited to 
present their basic accounting and water billing modules in a brief demonstration to the Finance 
Directors of the communities and then to submit price proposals to the communities.  After considering 
the cost proposals and the preliminary demonstrations, Lake Bluff invited two companies – BS&A and 
Civic Systems to give comprehensive demonstrations of their software modules to staff members across 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT #2

sgriffin
Typewritten Text



ERP Software Recommendation  May 18, 2016 

2 
 

all departments.  The staff met to compare the two systems and BS&A was unanimously recommended.  
All references contacted were very positive about BS&A software, the implementation process, and 
customer support.  Finance staff members went to the Village of Libertyville to view actual A/P and G/L 
processing on the system.  InterDev, the Village’s IT administrator was contacted to provide their 
feedback on the IT requirements of the BS&A system.  Steve Greer, InterDev IT specialist was involved 
directly in Lincolnshire’s BS&A software implementation and concurred with the favorable review of 
Lincolnshire staff regarding the implementation process and customer support.  The Village’s audit firm, 
Sikich uses BS&A software for accounting services that they provide to Police and Fire Pension Funds.  
 
RFQ Responses and Comparison of Four Vendors Selected for Initial Demo 
These companies provided responses to the requests for proposals: North Star, Harris Computers, MSI-
Smart Fusion (owned by Harris), DataWest, Accela, BS&A, Tyler (Munis), New World, and Civic Systems. 
The Villages of Lake Bluff, Gurnee, and Round Lake agreed to hear demonstrations of the basic 
accounting software and payroll from BS&A, Tyler, New World and Civic Systems.  After the 
presentations the communities did not exclude any vendor from the process and requested separate 
cost proposals from all four vendors for each community based on the specific modules requested.   
 
The initial pricing is shown below with some basic information about the four firms with the two finalists 
– BS&A and Civic Systems - listed first.  As you can see there was a substantial price different between 
the BS&A and Civic Systems compared to New World and Tyler Technologies.  In staff’s opinion the 
benefits of the New World and Tyler systems didn’t warrant the additional cost for a community the size 
of Lake Bluff.   
 

 BS&A 
Bath, Michigan 

Civic – Clarity 
Madison, WI 

New World – 
Logos.net/ERP101 
Troy, MI 

Tyler – Munis 
Plano, TX 

Price $136,890 $109,520 + 
$3,934 travel  

$197,500 $218,535 + 
$31,540 travel 

Annual 
Maintenance 

$  14,710 $  15,216 $  30,060 $  16,959 

Business Info Established in 
1985/100% 
municipal clients 

Subsidiary of 
audit firm Baker 
Tilly Virchow 
Krause 
established in 
2002  

Established in 1981. 
Recently purchased 
by Tyler. Fate of the 
legacy system 
uncertain 

Founded in 1966 
as a holding 
company 
changed focus in 
1997 to local 
governments 

Organization 
Size 

150 employees 18 employees 450 employees 10,000+ 

# of Yrs Data 
Conversion 

10 years 3 years 5 years (cost = 
travel expense) 

3 yr financial data 
Unlimited water 
& permit data 

Operating Syst Microsoft .NET Microsoft .NET Microsoft .NET Microsoft HTML 5 

IL Users Libertyville, 
Lincolnshire, Burr 
Ridge, Lake Villa, 
Northbrook, 
Lindenhurst, 
Grayslake, Rnd Lk 

Oak Forest, Villa 
Park, Fox Lake, 
Prospect Heights, 
Westchester, 
Woodstock, Deer 
Park, Batavia 

Buffalo Grove, 
Lemont, Geneva, 
Lombard, Plainfield, 
Naperville 

Glenview, Vernon 
Hills, Deerfield, 
Streamwood & 
Wilmette, 
Roselle, Rockford, 
Bloomington 

 
 



ERP Software Recommendation  May 18, 2016 

3 
 

The staff noted these advantages of the BS&A system: 

 provides 10 years of data conversion and is available at go “live” date, 

 BS&A software is internally developed (Civic is reseller/support for Caselle’s Clarity),  

 the transition from module to module was seamless with an extensive “drill-down” feature, 

 export function to Excel is easy, 

 standard reports are comprehensive and report preparation is user-friendly, 

 community development/building department module includes an export to US Census reports,  

 process charts show where purchase request, invoice payment, or other functions are in the 
approval process and sends e-mail notices to department heads when approval is needed, 

 user group meetings are specific to accounting, water utility, and building/community 
development suites, and  

 training program includes videos and on-site training at time of implementation and at first 
processing of A/P, G/L, water billing, etc. 

 
Neither BS&A nor Civic provide vehicle license database and billing software so the Village will continue 
to use MSI for a year and then engage a third party vendor.  Lake Bluff outsources its payroll processing 
with ADP and it makes economic sense to continue to outsource payroll processing. BS&A payroll suite 
has the same positive reputation as its other software suites if the determination is made to process 
payroll internally in the future.  
 
As for the long-term viability of the Microsoft Windows operating platform, tech gurus are not seeing a 
strong alternative on the horizon. Apple OS and Google Chrome OS have a way to go before surpassing 
Windows in the business environment.  The most likely scenario is for tablets and phones to replace 
desktops with more app-based software to accommodate mobile computing but that doesn’t exclude 
Microsoft.  BS&A is a Microsoft gold partner which entitles them to many privileges, including exclusive 
access to Microsoft tools, utilities and toolkits, and is attained by demonstrating core capabilities and 
expertise across several areas (among other requirements). 
   
  



 

BS&A Software  
14965 Abbey Lane Bath MI 48808  
(855) BSA-SOFT / fax (517) 641-8960 
bsasoftware.com 

 

Proposal for Software and Services, Presented to...  

Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County IL 

May 3, 2016 

Quoted by: Kevin Schafer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to quote our software and services. 
 

 At BS&A, we are focused on delivering unparalleled service, solutions, support, and customer satisfaction. You’ll 

see this in our literature, but it’s not just a marketing strategy... it’s a mindset deeply embedded in our DNA. Our 

goal is to provide such remarkable customer service that our customers feel compelled to remark about it. 

 

We are extremely proud of the many long-term customer relationships we have built. Our success is directly 

correlated with putting the customer first and consistently choosing to listen. Delivering unparalleled customer 

service is the foundation of our company. 
 

 

  

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT #3



 

Questions? Please call Kevin Schafer at (855) 272-7638 or email kschafer@bsasoftware.com Page 2 of 11 

Prices good for a period of 90 days from date on quote. Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County IL. Quoted May 3, 2016. 

Contents 
Please return all pages, retaining a copy for your records. 

 

Cost Summary; Totals..... 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 

Annual Service Fees..... 8 

Optional Items..... 9 

Acceptance..... 10 

Contact Information..... 11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

Questions? Please call Kevin Schafer at (855) 272-7638 or email kschafer@bsasoftware.com Page 3 of 11 

Prices good for a period of 90 days from date on quote. Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County IL. Quoted May 3, 2016. 

Cost Summary  

Software is licensed for use only by municipality identified on the cover page.  If used for additional entities or agencies, 

please contact BS&A for appropriate pricing. 

Prices subject to change if the actual count is significantly different than the estimated count. 

 

Applications, New Purchase 

 

General Ledger .NET $6,820 

Accounts Payable .NET $5,820 

Cash Receipting .NET $5,820 

Purchase Order .NET $5,820 

Miscellaneous Receivables .NET $5,820 

Utility Billing .NET (2,070 accounts) $4,140 

Work Orders .NET $5,820 

Building Department .NET $8,525 

Field Inspection .NET $3,150 

Citizen Request for Action .NET 

 Yes, please include the use of AccessMyGov On-Line Services for CRA. 

 Create New Request. Allows any user to create a request based on categories defined by the municipality. 

                 View My Requests. (always enabled) Allows users to view the requests they have submitted. 

$4,780 

AccessMyGov/Internet Services $1,500 

AccessMyGov/Financials 

Please select the features you would like to use. All of the features can be included without impacting the Annual 

Service Fee or Project Management and Implementation Planning Fee. 

 Financial Reporting: This requires the use of GL/Budgeting .NET. Enables users to print a financial report 

any time through a web interface. 

 Financial Reporting (Public): This requires the use of GL/Budgeting .NET. Provides a publicly-available 

section to enable members of the general public to print the financial reports the municipality has 

selected to share. 

 Manual Journal Entry Approvals: This requires the use of GL/Budgeting .NET. Enables users to approve 

journal entries they would otherwise have to approve through the .NET application. 

 Invoice Approvals. This requires the use of Accounts Payable .NET. Enables users to approve invoices they 

would otherwise have to approve through the .NET application. 

 Purchase Order Approvals: This requires the use of Purchase Order .NET. Enables users to approve 

purchase orders they would otherwise have to approve through the .NET application. 

 View Work Order Schedule: This requires the use of Work Order .NET. Enables users to view work orders 

scheduled within a specified date range. 

 

 

$4,505 



 

Questions? Please call Kevin Schafer at (855) 272-7638 or email kschafer@bsasoftware.com Page 4 of 11 

Prices good for a period of 90 days from date on quote. Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County IL. Quoted May 3, 2016. 

AccessMyGov/Building Department 

Please select the features you would like to use. All of the features can be included without impacting the 

Annual Service Fee or Project Management and Implementation Planning Fee. 

 View My Activity (always enabled): Enables contractors and the general public to easily access 

inspections and permits they have requested.  

 Inspection Scheduling: Enables contractors and the general public to submit requests for inspections 

online. 

 Building Department Search: Performs a search by any record number, including addresses, permits, 

and certificates. 

 Rental Property Search: Enables users to search for addresses that are flagged as rental properties. 

 Permit Applications. Enables contractors and the general public to submit permit applications online 

(see “Application Fee,” below). This feature requires the Payment of Fees feature. 

 Payment of Fees: Enables contractors and the general public to pay for permit and other fees online 

(see “Payment Processing Requirements,” below). 
 

Application Fee ($2/application):  This fee is for permit application submission only. Fees are 

accumulated and billed to the municipality. 

 

$5,115 

Subtotal $67,635 

  

 

Data Conversions 

 

Convert existing MSI data to BS&A format: 

General Ledger (COA, Balances, Budget, Up to 10 Years Journal Transaction history) $3,410 

Accounts Payable (Vendors, Up to 10 years invoices and check history) $2,910 

Utility Billing  $3,750 

Building Department (per database) $7,250 

Database Setup: 

  Cash Receipting (Setup of Receipt Items/Tender Types) 

 

$1,500 

  Miscellaneous Receivables (Setup of Billing Items, Penalties)  $1,500 

Work Orders (Setup of Work Order Types, Facilities, Assets, Equipment, Materials, Workers (if not using Employees   

as Workers)) 

$2,000 

Subtotal $22,320 

 

No data conversion to be performed for: 

Purchase Order 

Citizen Request For Action 

Field Inspection 

 

Custom Import 

 

Custom import from third-party software to populate Building Department database with parcels,  $1,500 

properties, and current owners. 

 

 

 



 

Questions? Please call Kevin Schafer at (855) 272-7638 or email kschafer@bsasoftware.com Page 5 of 11 

Prices good for a period of 90 days from date on quote. Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County IL. Quoted May 3, 2016. 

Project Management and Implementation Planning 

 

Services include: 

 Analyzing customer processes to ensure all critical components are addressed. 

 Creating and managing the project schedule in accordance with the customer's existing processes and needs. 

 Planning and scheduling training around any planned process changes included in the project plan. 

 Modifying the project schedule as needed to accommodate any changes to the scope and requirements of the project that are 

discovered. 

 Providing a central contact between the customer’s project leaders, developers, trainers, IT staff, conversion staff, and other 

resources required throughout the transition period. 

 Installing the software and providing IT consultation for network, server, and workstation configuration and requirements. 

 Reviewing and addressing the specifications for needed customizations to meet customer needs (when applicable). 

 

 $15,500 

 

Implementation and Training 

 

 $1,000/day 

 Days quoted are estimates; you are billed for actual days used 

 

Services include: 

 

 Setting up users and user security rights for each application 

 Performing final process and procedure review 

 Configuring custom settings in each application to fit the needs of the customer 

 Setting up application integration and workflow methods 

 Onsite verification of converted data for balancing and auditing purposes 

 Training and Go-Live 

 

  

Software Setup Days: 4  $4,000 

General Ledger .NET Days: 2  $2,000 

Accounts Payable .NET Days: 2  $2,000 

Cash Receipting .NET Days: 1  $1,000 

Purchase Order .NET Days: 3  $3,000 

Miscellaneous Receivables .NET Days: 1  $1,000 

Utility Billing .NET Days: 4  $4,000 

Work Order .NET Days: 2  $2,000 

Citizen Request for Action .NET Days: 1  $1,000 

Building Department .NET Days: 5  $5,000 

Field Inspection.NET Days: 2  $2,000 

AMG/Financials Days: 1  $1,000 

AMG/Building Department Days: 2  $2,000 

 Total: 30 Subtotal $30,000 

 

 

Connection Requirements 

 

AccessMyGov requires a high-speed internet connection (cable modem or DSL). 

BS&A requires that all customers utilizing AMG have either an on-staff IT person, or grant BS&A a remote terminal services ability to the 

machine on which the service is installed. This is necessary to ensure service availability and quality. 



 

Questions? Please call Kevin Schafer at (855) 272-7638 or email kschafer@bsasoftware.com Page 6 of 11 

Prices good for a period of 90 days from date on quote. Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County IL. Quoted May 3, 2016. 

Payment Processing Requirements 

 

Acceptance of online payments requires a contract with one of BS&A’s approved Online Credit Card Processing companies: Official 

Payments or Point & Pay. Please visit http://www.bsasoftware.com/Solutions/AccessMyGov/Internet-Services for information. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.bsasoftware.com/Solutions/AccessMyGov/Internet-Services


 

Questions? Please call Kevin Schafer at (855) 272-7638 or email kschafer@bsasoftware.com Page 7 of 11 

Prices good for a period of 90 days from date on quote. Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County IL. Quoted May 3, 2016. 

Cost Totals 
Not including Annual Service Fees 

 

Applications  $67,635 

Data Conversions  $22,320 

Custom Import  $1,500 

Project Management and Implementation Planning  $15,500 

Implementation and Training  $30,000 

Courtesy Discount  -10,830 

Total Proposed  $126,125 
 

 

Travel Expenses  $10,765 

 

  

 

Grand Total (with Travel Expenses) $136,890 

 

 

 

Payment Schedule 
 

 

1
st
 Payment:  $37,820 to be invoiced upon execution of this agreement. 

2
nd

 Payment:  $56,805 to be invoiced at start of training. 

3
rd

 Payment: $42,265 to be invoiced upon completion of training. 

  



 

Questions? Please call Kevin Schafer at (855) 272-7638 or email kschafer@bsasoftware.com Page 8 of 11 

Prices good for a period of 90 days from date on quote. Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County IL. Quoted May 3, 2016. 

Annual Service Fees, New Purchases 
 

Unlimited service and support during your first year with the program are included in your purchase price. Thereafter, Service Fees are 

billed annually.  BS&A Software reserves the right to increase the Annual Service Fee by no more than the yearly Consumers Price Index 

(CPI). 

 

General Ledger .NET $1,360 

Accounts Payable .NET $1,160 

Cash Receipting .NET $1,160 

Purchase Order .NET $1,160 

Miscellaneous Receivables .NET $1,160 

Utility Billing .NET $830 

Work Order .NET $1,160 

Citizen Request For Action .NET $960 

Building Department .NET $1,710 

Field Inspection .NET $630 

AMG/Internet Services $1,500 

AMG/Financials $900 

AMG/Building Department $1,020 

Total Annual Service, New Purchases $14,710 

 

  



 

Questions? Please call Kevin Schafer at (855) 272-7638 or email kschafer@bsasoftware.com Page 9 of 11 

Prices good for a period of 90 days from date on quote. Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County IL. Quoted May 3, 2016. 

Optional Item(s) 

 

Cash Receipting Hardware  
   Quantity  Cost 

 

Epson Series Receipt Printer* $750 x _____ = $_____________ 

 

Epson Series Receipt Printer* w/Check Scan $1,100 x _____ = $_____________ 

 

APG Cash Drawer** $250 x _____ = $_____________  

 

Honeywell Hyperion 1300g Linear-Imaging Scanner $250 x _____ = $_____________ 

 

Credit Card Reader $75 x _____ = $_____________ 

 

This will add $____________________ to the Total Proposed. 

 

*IMPORTANT. The receipt printer must be plugged into the USB port on one workstation (not your server). This printer is not to be 

shared with other workstations. If more than one workstation will be used for receipting, please consider purchasing more than 

one receipt printer. Ithaca receipt printers are not compatible with Vista or Windows 7. The Epson Series replaces the Ithaca brand 

and is fully compatible with those operating systems. 

 

**If using a previously-purchased receipt printer with the APG Cash Drawer, which brand will be used with the drawer? 

___Epson     ___Ithaca     ___Other (please specify)______________________________________________ 

 

Please provide the number of cash drawers that will be hooked up to the printer_____________ 

 

 

Program Customization 

BS&A strives to provide a flexible solution that can be tailored to each municipality's needs. However, in some cases, custom work may 

be required. Typical examples include:  

` custom payment import/lock box import 

` custom OCR scan-line 

` custom journal export to an outside accounting system 

` custom reports 

If you require any custom work, please let us know so that we can better understand the scope of your request and include that in a 

separate proposal. 

 

 

Additional Training - Building Department Report Designer  

Most of our Building Department customers heavily use our Report Designer, which is included free with the program. Report Designer 

Training is not included in the training quoted on this proposal and is highly recommended. You may attend a class at our office in Bath 

Township, or we can train at your location. Report Designer Training is typically completed in one day. 

Please check the option you are interested in. Report Designer Training will be scheduled after successful implementation and training 

of your Building Department software. 

___ Classroom training, $205/person/day 

___ On-site training (unlimited attendees), $1,000/day, travel not included 

 
  



 

Questions? Please call Kevin Schafer at (855) 272-7638 or email kschafer@bsasoftware.com Page 10 of 11 

Prices good for a period of 90 days from date on quote. Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County IL. Quoted May 3, 2016. 

 

Acceptance 
 

 

Signature constitutes... 

1. An order for products and services as quoted 

Quoted prices do not include Program Customization or training beyond the estimated number of days 

2. Agreement with the proposed Annual Service Fees 

3. Acceptance of BS&A's hardware recommendations required to efficiently run the .NET applications 

 

 

 

Signature Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BS&A PLEDGE. We offer a one-year, risk-reversal pledge on our software. If, up to a year after installation, you are not 

happy with our software and service, you can return our software for a full refund. 

 

 

 

Returning Accepted Proposal to BS&A 

Please return the entire proposal, with signature/date (this page) and contact information (next page) filled out, by any of 

these methods:  

 

 

Mail:  BS&A Software 

14965 Abbey Lane 

Bath, MI 48808 

 

Fax:   (517) 641-8960 

 

Email:   kschafer@bsasoftware.com 

 

Once your proposal is received, a BS&A representative will contact you to begin the scheduling process.  

  



 

Questions? Please call Kevin Schafer at (855) 272-7638 or email kschafer@bsasoftware.com Page 11 of 11 

Prices good for a period of 90 days from date on quote. Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County IL. Quoted May 3, 2016. 

Contact Information 

If any mailing addresses are PO Boxes, please also provide a Street Address for UPS/Overnight mail. 

If additional contacts need to be submitted, please make a copy of this page. 

 

 

 

Key Contact for Implementation and Project Management 

 

 

Name______________________________________________________________________________ Title__________________________________________________ 

 

 

Phone/Fax_________________________________________________________________________ Email_________________________________________________ 

 

 

Mailing Address____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

City, State, Zip______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

IT Contact 

 

 

Name______________________________________________________________________________ Title__________________________________________________ 

 

 

Phone/Fax_________________________________________________________________________ Email_________________________________________________ 

 

 

Mailing Address____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

City, State, Zip______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
                                                                               

             Agenda Item: 15 
 
 
 
 
Subject: 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT AND WAIVER OF COMPETITIVE BIDS 
TO COMPLETE THE EMERGENCY REPAIR OF MOFFETT ROAD  

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
VILLAGE STAFF 

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE ENGINEER 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
 
On May 20th, the Village received pricing from John Keno & Company for emergency repairs to Moffett 
Road immediately south of the intersection of Moffett Road and East Witchwood Lane based on the 
design completed by the Village’s consultant, Baxter & Woodman.     
 
Unfortunately, the proposal received from John Keno & Company was significantly higher in cost than 
was estimated.  It is not recommended the Board award a contract at this time.  Staff will continue to 
monitor the condition of the road and explore other options for temporary stabilization.     
 
Village Engineer’s Recommendation:  No board action. 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:       No board action.  
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 5/23/2016 
 
 
























	VB_05.23.16_6a Warrant Report.pdf
	Warrant_Payroll_May232016.pdf
	Total Expenditures of $310,216.47





